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Strawberry Hill Historic District
1. Name

historic Estate Strawbe}'ry Hill, Tuite

and/or common  Strawberry Hil11l, Plots 29, 20b

2. Location

street & number Queen's Quarter

—__ not for publication

city,town Christiansted XX vicinity of
state  US Virgin Islands code 78 county St, Croix code 0800
- - -
3. Classification
Category Ownership Status Present Use
XX_ district —___ public XX occupied —_ agriculture —___museum
____building(s) *X_private —___ unoccupied . commercial —__park
—_ structure ___ both ___work in progress ____ educational _XX private residence
—_site Public Acquisition Accessible — entertainment XX religious
___ object ___in process XX _vyes: restricted ____ government —_ scientific
—__ being considered .. yes: unrestricted ___ industrial —_transportation
___no —_ military other:

4. Owner of Property

name United Brethren in Christ Pentacostal Church

see continuation sheet #U

J o
street & number  ¢/0 PO Box 1034

city, town Christiansted, St. Croix . vicinity of

state US Virgin lIslands 00820

5. Location of Legal Description

courthouse, registry of deeds, etc. Recorder of Deeds

street & number Government House

city, town Christiansted, St. Croix

state US Virgin Islands

6. Representation in Existing Surveys

Virgin Islands Inventory
title of Historic Sites

has this property been determined eligible? ____vyes

XX

date February 1983

__federal *X__ state

—_county ____ local

depository for survey records Virgin lslands Planning O0ffice

city, town Christiansted, St. Croix

state US Virgin Islands

no



7. Description

Condition Check one Check one

—— excelient _XX deteriorated _Xunaltered XX original site

-__ good XX ruins _XX altered —_moved date . 1984
XX fair ____ unexposed

Describe the present and coriginal (if known) physical appearance

Strawberry Hill Estate, named after the London suburb of the same name, is located
in Queens Quarter, St. Croix, about five miles southwest of Christiansted. The ruins
of the estate consist of (1) a great house, (2) a conical sugar mill tower, (3)

retaining walls possibly including the remains of an animal mill, (4-5) outbuildings,
(6-11) laborers' living quarters, (12) conical belfry and field shelter, (13) well
tower and (14) retaining wall and storage area. They are distributed along the upper
reaches of a moderately sloping hill, and are relatively visible and clear of
vegetation.

(1) Great House (c. 1800)

The vacant great house in fair condition faces in the direction of the
south shore. |t stands on fop of the small, grassy hill. |+ is one story
with a raised basement. The great house is composed of four major
sections. The first section, the central core with hip roof measures
approximately 27 feetby 70 feet and contains the principal residential
rooms. A section, smaller by one bay on each side of the core, is attached
to the north. It is covered with a galvanized metal shed roof that is
highest in elevation along the west side. A second addition on the third
division of the house covered by a hipped roof extends west of the central
core extending one bay. I+ is also one bay wide. The front of the building,
a wooden front shed porch with an enclosed one bay by one bay pavilion at
the west end of it. The fourth section is the foundation, made of continuous
rubble masonry covered with |lime plaster, and comprises the ralsed basement.
Massive stone piers support the front porch. The exterior walls are
plastered brick and rubble masonry. A low=-pitched hip roof oriented along
a north to south axls covers the main core. Flat arched window and door
openings are relatively narrow. Some have retained the original hardware,
wood |intels and wood, vertical planked shutters and doors. Exterior trim
and other embel |ishments are minimal, except for a noticeable string course
(or water table) lining the exterior facades along the ground floor level.
A cistern attached to it furthest south of the building rises four feet
above grade. It is flat on top with a central rectangular opening measuring
two feet by two feet. The porch is decorated with a more recently added
masonry railing and six bevelled and camphored wood posts above it at
regularly spaced intervals. The modern raiiing has a geametric pattern of
narrow slits, some of which have diamond-shaped openings In the center of
every other one. An original rubble masonry welcoming arm staircase of 13
steps, with an arch underneath, leads to the center of the porch.

(2) Windmill (c.1766!
The conical sugar mill tower is located on the edge of the hillside about 40

feet south of the great house. |Its walls, approximately four feet thick has
a diameter of 70 feet at the foundation level. The cone tapers to 15 feet
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8. Significance

Period Areas of Significance—Check and justify below

. _ prehistoric _ archeology-prehistoric  xx. community planning . _ landscape architecture .. _ religion

... 1400-1499 xx  archeology-historic - _conservation o law _... science

..._. 1500-1599  w_ agriculture . ._.economics literature - ... sculpture

__ . 1600-1689 ** architecture .. education ... military ... social/

XX 1700-1799  _ art . engineering __ _ music humanitarian

XX_1800-1899 _  commerce . ...exploration/settiement __ philosophy -___theater

XX 1900~ _... communications XX industry 2% politics/government  ____ transportation
_ invention ... other (specify)

Specific dates 1750-1930 ) Builder Architect

Statement of Significance (in one paragraph)

Estate Strawberry Hill is comprised of plots 29 and 20b, Queen's Quarter in St.
Croix. The total area covered by the estate was originally 375 acres, making it a
fairly large estate by St. Croix standards.

Traditionally, Strawberry Hill is linked to the Tuite famly and on many older
maps, including Kuffner's 1767 map of the island, the estate is referred to simply as
Tulte. The Tuites first arrived in St. Croix in the early 1750's, following a meeting
by the family head, Nicholas Tuite, with Governor Jens Hansen in 1749. Up to that
time, the Tuite family had made a home in the British island of Monserrat. There they
had been successful merchants and planters, Their main reason for emigrating was one
of rellgious freedom. As Roman Catholics, they were unable to practice their faith in
Monserrat where the Church of England was the only recognized religious entity. Hansen
encouraged Tuite by suggesting that he could bring a private confessor, in the form of
a Capuchin monk, to St. Croix, and, under Danish law, the family would be able to
practice their faith free from hindrance. A visit fto Copenhagen further encouraged
Tulte; there he was informed that a church might be established as well. This
convinced Tuite and in the 1750's he |liquidated his Monserrat assets moving the center
of his operation to St. Croix. In the process, he provided passage for and assistance
to over 1,000 other settlers, both black and white, all an obvious advantage to the
newly established Danish colony.

Strawberry Hill was to become the principal estate for the Tuites, and for 50
years they made it their home. By 1754, an animal mill for grinding sugar was in
place and by 1766 a windmill had been built fto further increase productive
capabilities. For a short time, Tuite maintained a partnership with an English
planter named George Harris. |In 1791, he switched to another English planter named
Stapleton. Whether this was simply to extend his holdings or because of advantageous
shipping arrangements Is unknown.

By the end of the eighteenth century, the estate was fully established with over
100 slaves and several overseers on the estate. Production figures for that period
are unavailable. But indications are, because of its location and size, that
Strawberry HIll was particularly successful. Estate buildings would have included an
animal mill (no longer identified), the windmill, a curing house (possibly in the same
location as the later factory), a great house (the beginnings of that presently on the
estate), 1two or three overseers' houses (no longer identified), and an extensive slave
village, possibly on the site of that still in place. (Villages during the eighteenth
century were generally comprised of simple wattle and daub structures, roofed in
thatch; the present village dates from the early nineteenth century when stone
buildings on European models became more prevalent.) The Impressive masonry storage
buildings, possibly a stable, were also construted by this period.

In 1803, Tuite sold out to John and Alexander Towers. The reasons for the decision
are unclear although the British occupation during that year may have had a part in
the family's decision., At the time, the matriculs |ist 137 slaves and three overseers
as resident on the estate. Only 112 acres in cane, the west still (and unusually)
producing cotton or turned over to grazing. The Towers increased sugar production and



9. Major Bibliographical References
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10. Geographical Data

Acreage of nominated property __approx. 11 acres

Quadrangle name _Christiansted Quadrangle scaie
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Verbal boundary description and justification

Beginning at the northwesternmost point of the perimeter of the historic district Point (A),
1at|tude 17°hh 06", longltude 6445 1l the boundaryline follows south to Point (B),

o Lo hol, L3 then turps east to Point (G> latitude 17° l|l| oot

List all states and counties for properties overlapping state or county boundaries

state code county code

state code county code

11. Form Prepared By

namertitle Betty Ausherman, William Chapman, Claudette Lewis

organization Virgin Islands Planning Office date 16 November 1984
street & number PO Box 7818 telephone 809/774-7859
city or town St. Thomas state US Virain Islands

12. State Historic Preservation Officer Certification

The evaluated significance of this property within the state is:

—____ national _X _state ___local

As the designated State Historic Preservation Officer for the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966 (Public Law 89—
665), | hereby nominate this property for inclusion in the National Reglster and cermy that it has been evaluated

according to the criteria and procedures set forth by the National Par
State Historic Preservation Officer signature A1an D. Smith m%
titlg ommissioner, Departmept of Planning Mesgﬁt%c as ?/M]

PS use only _
reby certify t this p ope is included in the National Register
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(3)

(4-5)

at the top. The walls are reduced to one and a half feet, . thick. It Is
fairly overgrown with cirrus nightblooming cactii making It only partially
visible. The tower has a central arched opening, which faces west. [t Is
lined in stone with both well defined voissonts and a prominent keystone.
The total helght of the structure iIs approximately 35 feet high composed of
the main construction material, rectangular limestone blocks laid In even
courses. A narrower opening formerly used to transport the grinding
equipment and for the sugar juice to enter is located on the north side.
Two short round arched openings, egress points for pipes carrying sugar,
are located on the south side. A water table of two consecutive bands at
the base of the mill extends to form a ledge two feet above grade. Inside
the remalins of one original jolst can be seen inserted in one of the six
one foot square holes or niches used to support the machinery. These were
located seven feet above the floor.

Retaining Walls (late 18th c.)

Remains of rubble masonry walls appear to have once enclosed some of the

historic structures on top of the hill including the great house, several
outbuildings and the sugar mill. Beginning ten feet northeast of the wider
arched sugar mill openings, the remains of a seven foot high and one Inch

thick wall begins with a rectangular gatepost column. A capital band
protrudes from its top. A portion of the original hardware and wood posts
for the gateway stil| remains attached to the post. The wall extends in a
clockwise direction for seven feet to the mill, then west of the mill for
about 40 yards, then bends to the northeast forming a rounded corner. The
retaining wall directly west of the mill suggests an earlier animal mill In
1ts roughly semi-circular shape and size. The wall Is composed of |imestone
block and rises to six feet above grade on the sloping edge of the hillside.
I+ tapers to an end about 20 yards north of the great house as it approaches
the level ground at the top of the hill. The wall begins again in the same
clockwise and northerly direction about 50 feet north of the above mentioned
wall and directly 50 feet west of the great house. Another rectangular
gatepost column, similar to the one northwest of the mill, punctuates the
wal |l approximately 175 feet east. Another round capped wall begins 40 feet
north of the cistern adjacent to the great house and extends for 30 feet
before bending tfo the west. It Is five feet high, beginning again after 20
feet and incorporating the deteriorated remains of a gabled end facade six
feet high.

Outbuildings (c. 1800-1850)

To the west and south of the great house are several outbuilldings, most of
which were once used as the living quarters for laborers. Those closest to
the great house on top of the hill to the west are most deteriorated.
Therefore, the original functions are Indiscernible. The remains of these
three rectangular structures are composed of rubble masonry. The first
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(6-11)

(12)

outbuilding furthest north approximately 20 yards west of the great house
has gabled ends on the north and south facades as well as on the fop part
of the interior wall, much |ike a dividing wal | separating units of workers!
living quarters. The roof is missing.

A five foot long and approximately four feet high wall connects the west
facades of the above mentioned structure to a second structure. This second
outbullding follows a perpendicular axis running in an east to west
direction. It has been more recently repaired with cement patches along
the plate level and with cement blocks at the northwest corner. The
structure formerly had a shed roof with its highest elevation along the
south side. A few of the corner |imestone blocks have been scavenged. The
highest side with a nine foot elevation along the south wall, appears to be
fevel with the other sides on top due to the sloping ground. The structure
is five bays long by one bay wide. The longest sides are on the north and
south. The north wall is punctuated by alternating splayed windows and
doors, most of which have retained the wooden |intels and jambs. Inside the
roof less structure Is a raised solid masonry foundation. A half foot ledge
lines the exterior of the north and east facades 2 feet, 6 inches above
grade. lron hardware exist along three of the walls. Vertical iron bars,
later added, cover the window facing west.

Workers'! Rowhouses (c. 1800~1850)

Approximately six rowhouses composed of |imestone block are located further
down the hillside beginning approximately 200 yards west of the great house.
The one furthest east stands alone. |+ is the most deterlorated, overgrown
with tall grass and bush. Only the north facade remains. One hundred twenty
feet further to the west at the base of the hillside are a series of five
rowhouses (similar to those at Diamond Ruby). Each structure is
approximately 12 feet by 35 feet long. The gable roofs have a north to
south orientation. Three of the buildings stand in a row five feet apart
from each other east to west. Two more In a row stand paral lel approximately
eight feet north of these. The wooden [intels and jambs have been retained
as well as the metal corrugated roofs. They are apparently vacant al though
they may be used by the residents presently living on the property.

Belfry and Shelter (early 19th century)

The belfry composed of brick and rectangular |imestone block stands slightly
fower on the hillside twenty yards southwest of the sugar mill. It is 30
feet high and three feet thick. A cornice band lines the edges near the
top of the rectangular column above the three foot high arched opening.
Above the cornice, the column has heavy denticulation topped by a brick
corbel two feet by six feet. The belfry stands above vaulted rooms. The
massive retaining wall of the west facade is built into the hillside 20 feet
high. The belfry is flush with the north facade punctuated by a large
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barrel-vaulted opening. This lower three bay section of the belfry,
consisting of a central vaulted opening to the south end, has a vaulted
room flanking either side of the hallway. Each room is 7 feet by 20 feet.
The plastered walls are two feet thick. The rooms have barrel vaulted
ceilings. The west room has itwo highly elevated narrow splayed windows,
splayed and located on the south end of the west wall. A highly elevated
rectangular opening is located near the center of the facade adjacent to
the central passageway. A door three feet wide is arched on the passageway
side facing the interior. |t is nearer to the front entrance than the door
on the east side. The east room has one slitted window opening to the
interior passageway, set further back. Drawings of sallboats have been
Inscribed into the plaster of the west room.

(13) Well Tower (late 18th c.)

One of the most impressive features of the ruins at Strawberry Hill Estate
is Its well tower (windmill) with winding staircase. The staircase begins on
the northwest side and wraps around the perimeter of the fower in a
clockwise direction. It reaches up to the southwest side at the top. The
42 feet high windmill s located at the base of the hill about 200 feet
northwest of the belfry. |Its walls are two to three feet thick. The tower
Is 25 feet in diameter at its base and gets narrower with height, about ten
feet in diameter at the top. Three round arched openings at the base of the
stairway line the bottam of the southwest side, each about four feet high.
The arches have been bullt onto the side of the rubble masonry tower so
that they are not open to the interior. Above these fwo arches are two
fal ler and narrower arches at second floor height. Thelir sizes are
approximately four feet high by three feet across and five feet high by
three feet across located directly underneath the stairs. Occasionally one
foot square weep holes punctuate the walls. The tower is overgrown with
vines.

(14) Retaining Wall and Storage Area (late 18th century)

West of the mill, built into the hillside Is a massive retaining wall
punctuated by vaulted tunnels similar In appearance to the one at Castle
Coakley. Its vaulted chambers were also probably first used for storage.

Strawberry Hill| Estate is distinguished for its unusual architectural forms,
particularly the windmill with winding staircase and dungeoned belfry. Although
deteriorating and partially overgrown with bush, the site has been |ittle altered
since its original construction. lronically, It Is situated on the outskirts of a
fast expanding mid=-island suburb off Centerline Road. All the mentioned buildings at
Strawberry Hill are a part of the historic site possessing considerable historical
archaelogical potential. Therefore, the site should be protected from unwarranted
disturbances. '
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The boundaries have been drawn to adequately circumscribe the known structures
associated with the site and to enclose the area of highest human activity and,
therefore, greatest archaelogical potential.
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SUMMARY DE SRIPTTON:  ESTATE STRAWRERRY HILL
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by 1847 a full 157 acres were in cane; by the 1850's, the figure increased to 189.
Production figures for the same period were high. In the 1830's, they hovered around
the figure of 200,000 pounds a year, rising to 323,361 in 1839, Unfortunately, poor
harvests and gradual ly depleting soll led to lower figures during the 1850's, reaching
a low of 68,000 pounds in 1857,

In the late 1850's and early 1860's, the heirs to the Towers estate attempted tfo
Increase the efficiency of the estate by diversifying. Around 1860, a three-horse
power steam engine was purchased to aid in sugar production. As of 1863, 160 acres
were In cane and the remainder was used for grazing, an unusually high figure for the
period. The estate could claim three domestic servants, 116 laborers (now emanci pated
laborers working under the Labor Law of 1850) and 116 cattle.

In 1863, the estate was sold to a Mr. Fabricus, who continued to operate it in the
usual way. Part of Strawberry was destroyed in 1878 during the Fireburn, but Fabricus
managed to return the estate to production within a short time. Figures during the
1880's were wide ranging but averaged about 169 hogsheads (one hogshead=1,500 pounds)
per annum. After 1887, however, Strawberry ceased production altogether, carting its
sugar cane over to nearby Barrenspot for processing.

In 1897, Strawberry Hill was sold to A.J. Blackwood for $97,000 dol lars. Blackwood
was the agent for the Bartram Brother's Company, a New York based corporation involved
In the acquisition of real estate in St. Croix for investment purposes. Blackwood's
role in Strawberry was that of an Intermediary: estates were often put in his name to
avoid absentee ownership taxes. Under the Bartram Brother's ownership, Strawberry
continued to produce sugar; usually carting it to Lower Love for processing. In 1911,
Bartram sold out to Aktiustskaet, another holding company, who kept the estate In
production during the lean years, processing sugar at thelr new factory at Upper
Befthiehem. In 1931, Auyandro Carrio obtained the estate from the West Indles Sugar
Company, the successor to the earlier Swedish-owned company, in a liquidation sale.

Since the 1930's, Strawberry has lain more or less dormant. For a short time,
some cane continued to be produced on the estate but this stopped by the 1940's.
During the same period, Strawberry was used for grazing, but that has now ceased. The
estate now is gradually belng enveloped by suburban subdivisions surrounding nearby
Christiansted, and its lands bear |ittle resemblance to their appearance 30 years or
so ago. A Pentecostal church has also been built in one parcel, further altering the
estate's original appearance.

Nonetheless, Strawberry Hill preserves a number of buildings of great significance
and its physical plant maintains much of its original character. Still visible on the
estate are an Impressive and extraordinarily wel |-preserved great house, a number of
retaining walls, an early (pre-1766) windmill, a wel |-tower, factory remains, a stable
or storage area (popularly thought to be slave cells) and an early nineteenth century
slave village. The estate possesses a number of representative examples of local
bullding types, all important to an understanding of St. Croix's plantation history.
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Further knowledge of the estate, as with so many others on S+. Croix, awaits
archaeological investigation. For this reason, the estate should be protected from
any unnecessary ground disturbances, The boundaries have been delineated in order +o
adequately circumscribe the known remains associated with the estate and to take into
account present ownership.

Historical figures associated with the estate include the local ly important Tulte
family, a family significant for its place in the agricultural and religious history

of the islands, and A.J. Blackwood, a late nineteenth century businessman and
entrepeneur.
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longitude 64°45'38'", then turns south to Point (D), the southwesternmost point of the
perimeter at latitude 17°43'59", longitude 64°45'37'", then turns east to Point (E),
latitude 17°44'00", longitude 64°L45'32", then turns north to Point (F), latitude 17°LL'07",
longitude 64°45'33", The boundaryline then follows the south edge of the access road

west, returning to Point (A).
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